
 

 

PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA 
 

 

Planning Commission Meeting 

6:00 PM Tuesday, August 12, 2025 

South Lebanon Municipal Building 

10 N. High Street 

South Lebanon, Ohio 45065 

 

 Agenda Item 

1. Call to Order 

2. Roll Call 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 

4. Review and Approval of Minutes 

 A. Minutes of July 10, 2025 
  

5. Public Hearing – none 

6. Old Business   

A. None 

7. New Business 

A. Case 2025-09P – Review of rezoning of 0.021 acres at 150 N. Main Street from RFP 
(Residential Floodplain District) to B-1 (Neighborhood Business District) submitted 
by Dennis D. Hoff LLC 

B. Case 2025-10P - Review of replat of Lots 34 & 35, Willoughby’s Addition to South 
Lebanon Section 1 submitted by Clarence & Sandra Foley 

8. Communications 

9. Adjournment 

Members of the public may address the Planning Commission during the Open Forum segment of 
the agenda and shall be limited to five minutes each. After the speaker concludes remarks, the 
Planning Commission may comment or ask questions at that time.  The Chairperson may at his or 
her discretion restrict duplicate testimony on a particular subject. 

 



City of South Lebanon 
10 N. High St. South Lebanon, Ohio 45065 

Ph:(513)494-2296      Fax:(513)494-1656 

www.southlebanonohio.org  

 

Planning Commission Meeting  

MEETING MINUTES  

Thursday, July 10, 2025 @ 6:00pm 

 

 

Members Present:           Members Absent:     Staff: 

Darrick Zucco                                      Jerry Haddix 

Linda Burke                    Administrator 

Linda Allen                            

Susanne Mason                                    

                             

               

       

1. Call to Order by Mr. Zucco, at 6:00 p.m.  

2. Pledge of Allegiance 

3. Roll Call: Ms. Allen-Present, Ms. Burke-Present, Ms. Mason-Present, Mr. Zucco-Present. 

4. Review and Approval of Minutes for June 24, 2025.  Motion to approve by Burke, Seconded 

by Allen. Votes were taken, Ms. Burke-Yes, Ms. Mason-Yes, Mr. Zucco-Yes. 

5. Public Hearing- Mr. Zucco opened the public hearing for Case25-08P- Review of Application 

for a Preliminary Development Plan (PDP) for Marvella at Rivers Bend Development, 

submitted by NVR, Inc. located at the northwest corner of State Route 48 and Winding River 

Boulevard.  

 

Motion to open Public Hearing was presented by Burke, seconded by Mason, Votes were 

taken, all yeas.  

 

Haddix stated that on June 13, 2025, NVR, Inc. (Applicant) submitted a zoning map amendment 

application for a Preliminary Development Plan (PDP) for Marvella at Rivers Bend Development 

located at the northwest corner of State Route 48 and Winding River Boulevard (Parcel# 12-01-

451-002). The Applicant is proposing to create sixty (60) single-family attached units on 10.655 

acres on this property. He stated that the Planned Unit Development (PUD) requires that the 

Planning Commission shall schedule a public hearing and publish notice of said hearing in the 

newspaper, published on June 20, 2025, with written notice mailed to property owners prior to 

said hearing. He stated that the public hearing is for the PUD portion of the development. He stated 

that the applicant is proposing zoning from R-1 to R-3. He stated that the Planning Commission 

shall approve with conditions or disapprove the PUD Preliminary Plan within sixty (60) days after 

the public hearing which is then transmitted to the City Council.  

 

Shawn Bullock-Ryan Homes/NVR, Inc.- 8622 Jacquemin Drive, West Chester, OH, 45069. Mr. 

Bullock presented slides discussing details of the Marvella at Rivers Bend Project.  

 

http://www.southlebanonohio.org/


Planning Commission Minutes 

July 10, 2025 

Page 2 
 

Richard Arnold-McGill Smith Punshon/ Ryan Homes/NVR, Inc.-3700 Park 42 Drive, Suite 190B, 

Cincinnati, OH, 45241. Demonstrated and discussed details of the Marvella at Rivers Bend Project. 

 

Ray Warrick, 5466 Grand Legacy Dr., Maineville, OH, 45039. Mr. Warrick discussed the value 

of the property and rezoning R-1 to R-3 causing potential problems. He stated that he strongly 

urges the commissioners to turn down the request for the R-3 PUD.  

 

Mr. Zucco addressed limiting the conversations to five minutes per person, without duplicating 

arguments.  

 

Charlie Williams, 250 Vista Ridge Drive, South Lebanon, OH, 45065. Mr. Williams addressed his 

concerns that a 60-unit development would depreciate property value and create additional traffic.  

 

Theresa Faulkner, 5391 Grand Legacy Drive, Maineville, OH, 45039. Ms. Faulkner addressed her 

concerns regarding rezoning to R-3 and negative effects of traffic and environment.  

 

Tom Kottenstette, 5664 Piper Glenn Drive, Maineville, OH, 45039. Mr. Kottenstette stated that he 

is on the HOA Rivers Bend Board. He addressed his concerns regarding the change of an initial 

45-unit development to a 60-unit development.  

 

Deb Wacksman, 5434 Grand Legacy Dr., Maineville, OH, 45039. Ms. Wacksman addressed her 

concerns regarding the egress point and ingress point on Winding River Blvd. She stated that 

accidents have increased.  

 

Nino Benvenuti, 5135 Emerald View Dr., Maineville, OH, 45039. Mr. Benvenuti addressed his 

concerns regarding traffic issues, egress and ingress issues and privacy for Sportsplex. Stated that 

he has been a resident for 14 years. 

 

Ronda Smith, 756 Winding River Blvd., Maineville, OH 45039. Ms. Smith stated that she has 

been a resident for about 20 years. Stated she is President of Rivers Bend HOA. She addressed her 

concerns regarding the proposed 60-unit development. She further discussed her concerns with the 

volume of traffic, and the egress and ingress point on Winding River Blvd.  

 

Don Biedermann, 5444 Grand Legacy Dr., Maineville, OH, 45039. Mr. Biedermann stated that he 

was on Hamilton Township Planning and Zoning for 50 years. He addressed his concerns 

regarding population density issues. He urged the commissioners to consider limiting the density 

for the PUD.  

 

Chad Goldstein, 5764 Piper Glen Dr., Maineville, OH, 45039. Mr. Goldstein addressed his 

concerns regarding the volume of traffic and preserving R-1 Zoning. He further addressed his 

concerns regarding potential increased population density affecting Kings School District. He 

mentioned the lack of amenities for the proposed development.  



Planning Commission Minutes 

July 10, 2025 

Page 3 
 

Robin Jerald, 1057 Turning Point Lane, Maineville, OH 45039. Mr. Jerald addressed his concerns 

regarding preserving the R-1 zoning. He remarked that building on the other side of SR 48 would 

be a better option.  

 

Jenny Wilson, 1594 Saint John Place, Kings Mills, OH, 45034. Ms. Wilson remarked that Warren 

County needs more commercial building instead of residential. She stated that she works at JF 

Burns Elementary. She stated that the enrollment has significantly increased. Ms. Wilson urged 

Planning Commissions to view the Warren County Commissioners Office Meeting on YouTube 

from June 6, 2023. She mentioned that according to statistics, new property needs to be valued at 

$800,000 per unit, for Warren County to break even on taxes. She remarked, if not, the residents 

will potentially pay an additional tax bill. 

 

Michelle Lipka, General Manager of TPC Rivers Bend, 2958 Wooded Vista Court, Mason, OH 

45040. Addressed that she supports the HOA at Rivers Bend regarding keeping R-1 zoning.  

 

Barbara Cook, 131 Shadow Valley Lane, South Lebanon, OH 45065. Ms. Cook addressed 

concerns with the 40’ buffer rezoning near the Rivers Bend Sportsplex. Discussed traffic issues 

crossing SR 48. 

 

Mr. Zucco closed the public hearing. 

 

Mr. Arnold discussed aspects of shifting the 40’ zoning buffer to the East towards SR 48. He 

discussed the draining aspects of the storm water detention basin. He further discussed the aspects 

of a secondary emergency entrance. He addressed traffic issues and the involvement of a traffic 

engineer. He discussed the utilities and sanitary sewer involved for the development.  

 

Haddix stated that the access permit onto Winding River Blvd., is through the Warren County 

Engineer’s Office. Mr. Arnold stated that he understood.  

 

Tom Kottenstette, 5664 Piper Glenn Drive, Maineville, OH, 45039. Mr. Kottenstette addressed his 

concerns regarding a second egress point causing havoc in the community.  

 

Haddix stated that the egress point is a Hamilton Township Fire Department requirement.  

 

Haddix asked Mr. Arnold for the number of the threshold requirement, to which he stated, “30 

feet.” 

 

Mr. Arnold stated that the egress point will be for emergency services only and not for residents. 

 

Haddix questioned Hamilton County Fire Department’s previous requirements for Rivers Bend 

Subdivision.  

 

Mr. Arnold stated that Hamilton County Fire Department requirements are currently being 

enforced compared to previous years.  



Planning Commission Minutes 

July 10, 2025 

Page 4 
 

Theresa Faulkner, 5391 Grand Legacy Drive, Maineville, OH, 45039. Ms. Faulkner addressed her 

concerns regarding the proposal lacking essential elements. She further addressed her concerns 

regarding road expansion. 

 

 Jenny Wilson, 1594 Saint John Place, Kings Mills, OH, 45034. Ms. Wilson asked for the value of 

each unit. Stated that her statistical statement of the units being valued at $8000,000 per unit, 

attributed to one child per unit.  

 

Mr. Bullock stated that the units are valued at an average of $450,000 per unit.  

 

Mr. Zucco asked the citizens to limit the statements to questions and answers.  

 

Susan Roundtree, 2630 Loveland, OH, 45140. Ms. Roundtree asked how the development will 

benefit Kings School District.  

 

Mr. Bullock stated that the development will not benefit Kings School District. He stated that there 

is no TIFF on the project.  

 

Susan Hirth, 5302 Vista Point Dr., Maineville, OH 45039. Ms. Hirth asked if the units will be 

equipped with elevators.  

 

Mr. Bullock stated “no.”  

 

Rich Bertagna, 370 Vista Ridge Dr., South Lebanon, OH 45065. Mr. Bertagna asked how school 

buses and garbage trucks would enter the development. He further asked if the units would have 

one dumpster.  

 

Mr. Bullock stated that the units are not rental apartments. He stated that the single-family units 

will be fee simple ownership. He further stated that the development has been designed to 

accommodate larger vehicles.  

 

Mr. Arnold stated that the turn arounds are sized for a Firetruck.  

 

Mr. Zucco stated that Gayle Froehlich currently owns the property.  

 

Roger Huber, 5365 Grand Legacy Drive, Maineville, OH, 45039. Mr. Huber asked if a traffic 

study had been planned.  

 

Mr. Arnold stated that the traffic study is not conducted during the preliminary process. He 

discussed the process of conducting a traffic study. He explained that the study depends on traffic 

density. 

 

Mr. Bullock stated that NVR, Inc., pays for the traffic study.  

 



Planning Commission Minutes 

July 10, 2025 

Page 5 
 

Nancy Powers, 372 Buena Vista Dr., South Lebanon, OH, 45065. Ms. Powers addressed her 

concerns regarding the potholes on Vista Point Dr. 

 

Ms. Burke asked Mr. Zucco if she could speak to Ms. Powers statement, to which he stated “yes.” 

 

Ms. Burke stated the City has been awarded the 2025 Paving Project to repair streets. She stated 

that the project includes Vista Ridge for street repairs.  

 

Jake Shields, Grey Fox Capital, 6161 Oak Tree Blvd., Independence, OH, 44131. Mr. Shields 

discussed the process of a preliminary plan. He stated that we are in the beginning stage of the 

preliminary plan, not the final plan. He remarked that MI Homes may have completed a traffic 

study. He mentioned that MI Homes may be using Marvella Blvd. to enter and exit their 

development. He discussed potentially getting approval for a second access point.  

 

Khan Faisal, 941 Falcon Point, Maineville, OH 45039. Mr. Faisal addressed his concerns with the 

traffic. Further addressed his concerns regarding moving forward with the development.  

 

Mr. Bullock discussed the proposed project on SR 48 that involves widening the road and 

improving the intersection with U.S. Route 22. Stated that ODOT and Warren County are 

addressing the improvements.  

 

Motion to close Public Hearing was presented by Allen, seconded by Mason, Votes were taken, 

all yeas.  

 

6. Old Business-None 

 

7. New Business 

 

A. Case 25-07P - Review of rezoning of 10.655 acres located at the NW corner of 

S.R. 48 & Winding Rivers Blvd. (Parcel# 12-01-451-002) from R-1 (Single 

Family Residential District) to R-3 (Single & Multi-Family Residential District) 

submitted by NVR, Inc. 

 

B. Case 25-08P - Review of Preliminary Development Plan (PDP) for Marvella at 

Rivers Bend Development, submitted by NVR, Inc. 

 

 

Haddix explained the rezoning process. He stated that the Planning Commission shall transmit its 

recommendation to the City Council sixty days from receipt of the application. The application 

was submitted June 13, 2025. The Planning Commission shall recommend it to the Council on or 

before on August 13, 2025.  

 



Planning Commission Minutes 

July 10, 2025 

Page 6 
 

Haddix explained the PUD process. He stated that the Planning Commission shall approve of the 

conditions of the PUD Preliminary Plan or disapprove within sixty days after the public hearing, 

which is then transmitted to the City Council. 

 

Haddix recommends tabling the motion. 

 

Mr. Zucco asked Haddix to explain the voting process based on approval or denial.  

 

Haddix explained the City Charter voting process based on approval or denial. 

 

Discussions ensued regarding the voting process of approval or denial.  

 

Ms. Mason asked if the options for voting are to deny, approve, approve with conditions or table. 

 

Haddix answered “yes.” 

 

Ms. Allen recommended tabling the motion.  

 

Ms. Burke disagreed with tabling the motion.  

 

Mr. Zucco asked Haddix to present the 2021 Comprehensive Zoning Plan. 

 

Haddix presented and discussed the 2021 Comprehensive Zoning Plan. 

 

Discussions ensued regarding amending the zoning code.  

 

Mr. Zucco expressed his concerns regarding the 40-foot buffer.  

 

Haddix discussed the buffer requirements.  

 

Mr. Zucco asked Haddix if the PDP adheres to the buffer requirements. 

 

Haddix stated ‘no.’  

 

Discussions ensued regarding the buffer requirements. 

 

Haddix explained the process of the Planning Commission’s determination of a major or minor 

modification to change the PUD. 

 

Mr. Zucco asked the Commission for comments. 

 



Planning Commission Minutes 

July 10, 2025 

Page 7 
 

Ms. Mason commented that she hopes the commissioners make a vote. She further commented, 

feeling strongly about the City welcoming all classes and all demographics. She believed the 

residents had good comments specifically addressing traffic, school, density and infrastructure. 

Remarked that she is less concerned about esthetics or perceived concerns of Marvella residents 

using Rivers Bend amenities. She commented that Gayle Froehlich was aware of the R-1 zoning 

when the property was purchased and throughout the entire process.  

 

Ms. Burke commented that she is concerned about the density in the surrounding community. She 

remarked that we are not an island, and we should be good neighbors. She mentioned that the 

residents made well thought comments and presentations.  

 

Mr. Zucco addressed his concerns regarding the density not complying with R-3 based on the 

zoning code and the presented plan.  

 

A motion to deny rezoning Case25-07P, from an R-1(Single Family Residential District) to an R-

3 (Single & Multi-Family Residential District) was made by Burke, seconded by Mason. Vote was 

taken, all yeas. 

 

Ms. Allen asked Haddix to explain the voting process.   

 

Haddix explained the process of voting “yeah” to deny the motion.  

 

Mr. Zucco stated that the motion recommendation for rezoning was denied.  

 

A motion to deny Case25-08P, Preliminary Development Plan was made by Allen, seconded by 

Zucco. Vote was taken, all yeas 

 

Mr. Zucco stated that the motion was denied 

 

8. Communications-None 

 

9. At 7:29 p.m. a motion to adjourn was made by Burke, seconded by Allen. Vote was taken, all 

yeas. 

 

 

______________________________        ___________________________ 

     Darrick Zucco – Chairman            Jennifer O’Brien – Clerk 

 

 

 

Audio recording of this meeting is available upon request. 

 

 

 



CITY OF SOUTH LEBANON 
MEMORANDUM 

TO: Planning Commission 

FROM: Jerry Haddix, City Administrator 

RE: Case 25-09P, Rezoning of 0.281 acres at 150 N. Main Street 

DATE: August 7, 2025 

On the agenda for August 12th meeting is Case #25-09P, is a request to rezone the property known 
as 150 N. Main Street consisting of 0.281 acres, owned by Dennis D. Hoff LLC, from RFP - 
Residential Flood Plain District to B-1 – Neighborhood Business District. 

Background 
The building at 150 N. Main Street was constructed in 1951 and has been primarily used for business 
(automotive servicing) and residential rental purposes. But, when the then-Village adopted its zoning 
code and map, this property was shown in the RFP zone although a business & rental units were 
operating out of it at that time. In 2023, Dennis D. Hoff LLC purchased the property and has 
continued the four (4) rental apartments. Subsequently, the Village adopted the Village 
Comprehensive Plan which shows the property as the “Historic Core” area which promotes mixed 
use development. The Owner is requesting to rezone the property from RFP to B-1 as he is planning 
to move a hair salon into the lower, store-front level. Since they have been continually occupied, the 
rental units on the upper level of the property would remain as a “non-conforming” use as long as 
there is not a six-month span of vacancy.  

Code Analysis 
Article 7 of the City Zoning Code lists the procedures for Amendment or District Changes to the 
City’s Zoning Code.  

Zoning Process 

The Planning Commission shall transmit its recommendation to the City Council within sixty (60) 
days of the receipt of the rezoning application. The Planning Commission may recommend that the 
amendment be granted as submitted, recommend modifications, or recommend denial. 

Recommendation 

These rezoning changes are consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan. Staff recommends that 
the Planning Commission recommend approval of this rezoning, as presented. 

Attachments 
Planning Commission Application 
Property Map of 150 N. Main St. 















0.281 Acres

RFP to B-1

150 N. Main St.

Sources: Esri, HERE, Garmin, USGS, Intermap, INCREMENT P, NRCan, Esri Japan, METI, Esri
China (Hong Kong), Esri Korea, Esri (Thailand), NGCC, (c) OpenStreetMap contributors, and the
GIS User Community, Warren County GIS

150 N. Main St. (RFP to B-1)
Date: 8/7/20 25

The provider makes no warranty or representat ion with respect to this information, its quality or suitability for a particular purpose. 
This information is provided AS IS, and the requester assumes the entire risk as to its quality and suitability. The provider will not be
 liable for direct, indirect, incidental,  or consequent ial damages resulting from any defect in the information. 
The provider shall have no liability for any other information, Programs or data used with or combined with the requested information, 
including the cost of recovering information, programs or data.

Cadastral Lines
<all other values>

Line  T yp e
Audi tors Tract  Line
Civil Townshi p Line

Corporate Line
County Line
Farm Lot  Line
Overpass Line
Subdivis ion Limit Line

Parcel Line
ROW Unknown Wi dth Line
Road ROW
School Line
Sect ion Line

Hardware
Subdivis ion Lot  Line
Township and Range Line
Tract  Line

" " VMS Line
Vacated Road Line

1 inch = 24 feet



 

 
 

City of South Lebanon 
10 N. High Street, South Lebanon, Ohio 45065 

513-494-2296 
fax: 513-494-1656 

www.southlebanonohio.org 
 
 

MEMORANDUM  
 
 
To:  Planning Commission Members 
 
From:  Jerry Haddix, City Administrator 
 
Date:  August 7, 2025 
 
Subject:  Case# 25-10P - Replat for Lot 34A, Willoughby’s Addition, Section 1 
 
 
In 1998, the Clarence & Sandy Foley purchased lots 34 & 35 of the Willoughby’s Addition with 
an address of 130 E. Broadway St. They subsequently constructed an new house on these two 
lots. Being a platted subdivision, these lots should have been replatted prior to construction to 
have a lot which conforms to the City’s zoning regulations.  
 
This property is located in the R-3 Single & Multi-Family Residential District. They are now 
seeking to replat and combine the lots 34 & 35 to create one conforming lot for the zone and 
buildings on the attached plat, meeting all of the lot size & setback requirements. This meets all 
of the requirements for a replat and Staff recommends approval of this replat.. 
 
Let me know if you have any questions or need additional information. 
 












	PC Agenda 08-12-2025.pdf
	PC Minutes 07.10.25
	2025-09P 150 N Main St Rezoning-Combined
	Staff Review 25-09P Rezoning 150 N Main St.pdf
	150 N Main St Rezoning PC Application
	150 N Main St Rezoning Map

	2025-10P 130 E Broadway Replat-Combined
	130 EBroadway St Replat Memo 080725.pdf
	PC Application 130 E Broadway
	Replat 130 E Broadway




